博士論文

Functional analysis of lemon myrtle extract, a novel functional food ingredient that activates skeletal muscle satellite cells

(筋衛星細胞を活性化する新規機能性食品素材) レモンマートル抽出物の機能解析

山本 愛弓

広島大学大学院統合生命科学研究科

2022年9月

1. 主論文

Functional analysis of lemon myrtle extract, a novel functional food ingredient that activates skeletal muscle satellite cells

(筋衛星細胞を活性化する新規機能性食品素材レモンマートル抽出物の機能解析) 山本 愛弓

2. 参考論文

Lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) extract and its active compound, casuarinin, activate skeletal muscle satellite cells in vitro and in vivo

<u>Ayumi Yamamoto</u>, Shinichi Honda, Mineko Ogura, Masanori Kato, Ryuichi Tanigawa, Hidemi Fujino, and Seiji Kawamoto Nutrients, 14(5), 1078 (2022).



Contents

General introduction1			
Chapter 1: <i>vitro</i> and <i>in</i>	Lemon myrtle extract activates skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs) both <i>in</i>		
1.1. Int	roduction		
1.2. Ma	aterials and methods7		
1.2.1.	Preparation of lemon myrtle extracts7		
1.2.2.	Total phenolic content analysis7		
1.2.3.	Animals		
1.2.4.	SC isolation and culture9		
1.2.5.	Myoblast culture		
1.2.6.	In vitro BrdU-incorporation assay10		
1.2.7.	In vivo BrdU-incorporation assay11		
1.2.8.	Statistical analysis		
1.3. Re	sults		
1.3.1.	The extraction solvents affect the properties of the lemon myrtle extracts 13		
1.3.2.	Oral administration of lemon myrtle extracts activates SCs in vivo		
1.3.3.	Lemon myrtle water extract treatment does not activate myoblasts in vitro 19		
1.4. Dis	scussion		

Chapter 2: Casuarinin is the active compound in lemon myrtle extract involved in			
activation of skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs)			
2.1. Int	roduction		
2.2. Ma	terials and methods		
2.2.1.	Preparation of lemon myrtle water extract (LM)25		
2.2.2.	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis 25		
2.2.3.	High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis		
2.2.4	$\mathbf{O} = \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O}$		
2.2.4.	Casuarinin isolation and nuclear magnetic resonance (INMR) analysis		
225	A minute 29		
2.2.3.	Ammais		
226	SC isolation and culture 20		
2.2.0.			
227	In vitro BrdU-incorporation assay 30		
2.2.1.			
2.2.8.	In vitro mRNA expression assay		
2.2.01			
2.2.9.	<i>In vivo</i> BrdU-incorporation assay		
	1		
2.2.10.	Statistical analysis		
2.3. Res	sults		
2.3.1.	Identification and quantification of the major compounds in LM35		
2.3.2.	Only casuarinin activates SCs among the major compounds in LM		
2.3.3.	Structurally related compounds of casuarinin do not activate SCs		
2.3.4.	LM or casuarinin treatment upregulates <i>IL-6</i> mRNA expression in SCs		

2.3.5. Oral administration of casuarinin activates SCs <i>in vivo</i>	50
2.4. Discussion	
General conclusions	
Acknowledgments	61
References	63

General introduction

Japan has the longest life expectancy in the world. According to a survey by Japan's Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, the average life expectancy in 2019 is 81.41 years for men and 87.45 years for women, and it is estimated to continue to increase [1]. In contrast, healthy life expectancy, the period during which activities of daily living (ADL) are not limited, is approximately 9 years shorter for men and 12 years shorter for women than the average life expectancy [1]. In other words, long-term care is needed for approximately 10 years before the end of life. About 40% of the causes of the need for long-term care are related to the decline in motor function, including frailty, falls, fractures, and articular diseases [2].

Human skeletal muscle decreases at a rate of approximately 1–2% per year after the age of 50 [3]. This age-related skeletal muscle atrophy is termed sarcopenia and is defined as a progressive and generalized skeletal muscle disorder with the accelerated loss of muscle mass and function [4]. Sarcopenia is a major component of frailty [5] and increases the risk of falls and fractures, which results in loss of ADL and quality of life [6]. Therefore, prevention and improvement of sarcopenia is an important issue for extending healthy life expectancy.

The primary intervention for improving sarcopenia is exercise, which has been shown to be effective for older adults with sarcopenia [4]. Among exercise methods, resistance exercise is recommended for improving sarcopenia, but carries the risk of temporary blood pressure elevation [7] and injury [8]. In contrast, nutritional interventions are simple and safe methods. For example, several studies have reported the effects of protein [9], vitamin D [10], omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids [11], and leucine [12] intake on older adults. However, effective nutritional interventions for sarcopenia have not yet been established [4], partly because the differences in skeletal muscle hypertrophy mechanisms between exercise and nutritional interventions are not well understood.

Skeletal muscle is composed of multinucleated cells called myofibers. Since the nuclei of myofibers (myonuclei) are post-mitotic and cannot divide to produce new myonuclei, new myonuclei are supplied by the proliferation of skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs) [13]. SCs are localized between the basal membrane and the plasma membrane of myofibers [14]. In adult muscle, SCs normally exist in a quiescent and undifferentiated state. However, when skeletal muscle is stimulated by injury or exercise, SCs are activated and enter the cell cycle, dividing to produce myoblasts. Myoblasts further proliferate and differentiate, fuse into myofibers, and form new myonuclei [15]. In addition, some myoblasts return to a quiescent state to maintain the SC pool [16]. With aging, the SC pool diminishes, and the remaining SCs have less capacity for activation, resulting in poor myogenic potential [17]. Verdijk et al. reported that age-related skeletal muscle atrophy is accompanied by a decrease in SC numbers, but resistance exercise increases both myofiber size and SC numbers in older adults [18].

Exercise induces skeletal muscle hypertrophy through both activation of SCs and promotion of muscle protein synthesis [19]. In contrast, most nutritional interventions promote muscle protein synthesis, but little is known about their effects on SC activation [20]. Kaneka Corporation focused on the differences in skeletal muscle hypertrophy mechanisms induced by exercise and most nutritional interventions and searched for novel functional food ingredients that activate SCs. Approximately 200 plant extracts and phytochemicals were preliminarily evaluated for their effects on SC activation *in vitro*, and an extract of lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) leaves was found to activate SCs *in vitro* (in-house data from Kaneka Corporation).

Lemon myrtle is a plant of the genus *Backhousia* in the family Myrtaceae. Various solvent extracts of lemon myrtle have been reported to have biological activities, including antimicrobial [21,22], anti-inflammatory [23–25], and antioxidant [24–27] activities, but its effect on SC activation remains to be investigated.

To develop and commercialize lemon myrtle extract as a novel functional food ingredient for sarcopenia, the objective of this thesis is to clarify the function of lemon myrtle extract in terms of SC activation. In Chapter 1, I aimed to establish a general manufacturing method of lemon myrtle extract. To this end, I evaluated the effect of solvents used for extraction from lemon myrtle leaves to maximize its SC activation capacity. I also examined whether the lemon myrtle extract specifically activates SCs (quoted from [28]). In Chapter 2, to gain mechanistic insights into the activation of SCs by lemon myrtle extract, I attempted to identify the active compound in lemon myrtle extract and elucidate the signaling molecule associated with SC activation by lemon myrtle extract (quoted from [28]).

Chapter 1: Lemon myrtle extract activates skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs) both *in vitro* and *in vivo*

1.1. Introduction

For a novel nutritional intervention against sarcopenia, an extract of lemon myrtle leaves was selected as a candidate to activate skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs) in a preliminary study by Kaneka Corporation. It is known that in the preparation of plant extracts, pretreatment of plant samples (e.g., grinding and homogenization), drying methods (e.g., airdrying and freeze-drying), and extraction conditions (e.g., type of extraction solvent, extraction time and temperature) affect extraction yield and composition of plant extracts [29]. In particular, it has been reported that in various plant extracts, the type of extraction solvent affects the content of phenolic compounds (the major bioactive compounds in plant extracts) and their bioactivity [22,30,31].

In this chapter, I examined the type of extraction solvent to maximize the effect of lemon myrtle extract on SC activation. Lemon myrtle leaves have long been used as a food flavoring and herbal tea [32] and are listed as "Ingredients that are not deemed to be pharmaceuticals unless they are labelled with pharmaceutical effects" in Japan [33]. Also, only water and ethanol can be used as solvents for food extraction without restrictions in Japan [34,35]. Therefore, to produce lemon myrtle extract as a food product in Japan, I used only water and ethanol as extraction solvents and evaluated the effect of their mixing ratio. Then, to clarify the functional properties of lemon myrtle extract, I evaluated its effect on SC activation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition, to elucidate the specificity of the cell proliferative effect of lemon myrtle extract on cell types, I also evaluated its effect on myoblasts, which are produced by SCs in the process of fusion to myofibers.

1.2. Materials and methods

1.2.1. Preparation of lemon myrtle extracts

Cut and dried samples of lemon myrtle leaves were supplied by Australian Native Lemon Myrtle Farms (Airlie Beach, Queensland, Australia). The weighed samples were extracted with 5-fold volume of solvent for 2 h at 50°C. Water, aqueous ethanol (20%, 40%, 60%, or 80% ethanol concentration), or ethanol was used as the solvent. Each extract was filtered through an α-cellulose membrane, and the supernatant was collected. These procedures were repeated twice. The supernatants from the two extractions were combined, and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure at 50°C using a rotary evaporator. Each concentrated extract was then freeze-dried under reduced pressure, and each lyophilized powder obtained was referred to as "lemon myrtle extract" and stored at 4°C until further use.

1.2.2. Total phenolic content analysis

Total phenolic content in each extract was determined using the Folin–Ciocalteu method previously described by Do et al. [31] with some modifications. Each extract was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to a concentration of 200 μ g/mL. The calibration curve was prepared with gallic acid (0–100 μ g/mL, ChromaDex, Los Angeles, CA, USA). Each extract or gallic acid solution (200 μ L) was added to 300 μ L of Folin–Ciocalteu phenol reagent

(4-fold diluted with distilled water; MP Biomedicals, Irvine, CA, USA) and 1.5 mL of 0.4 M sodium carbonate (Nacalai Tesque, Kyoto, Japan) and mixed. The mixture was then incubated at 30°C for 60 min. After cooling at room temperature for 15 min, the mixture was filtered through a PTFE filter (0.45 μm) and the absorbance was measured at 760 nm using a UV–VIS spectrophotometer (UV-1280, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Total phenolic content was calculated as milligram gallic acid equivalent per gram dry weight of extract.

1.2.3. Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats were purchased from Japan SLC (Shizuoka, Japan) at 13week-old for an *in vivo* assay and over 6-month-old for *in vitro* assays. Animals were housed at constant humidity ($55\% \pm 10\%$) and temperature ($22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$) in a 12 h light/dark cycle and had free access to food (CE-2; Clea Japan, Tokyo, Japan) and water. Animals were acclimated to the environment for one week prior to the experiments. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Kaneka Corporation (approval number: 2014-16 and 2014-21, approval date: 25 March 2014), and conducted in accordance with the guidelines for animal experiments of Kaneka Corporation.

1.2.4. SC isolation and culture

SC isolation and culture were performed according to previously described methods with slight modifications [36–38]. Briefly, after the rats were euthanized, the upper hindlimb and back muscles were excised, and adipose and connective tissues were trimmed. The muscle tissues were minced with scissors and digested for 1 h at 37°C with 1.25 mg/mL protease type XIV (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The cells were separated from muscle fiber fragments and tissue debris by differential centrifugation and filtration through cell strainers (100 and 40 µm). Following further centrifugation, cells were suspended in 10% HS-DMEM (Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium [DMEM; Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA] supplemented with 10% horse serum [HS; Gibco], 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution [AA; Gibco], and 0.5% gentamicin [Gibco]). For 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU)-incorporation assay, the cells were seeded into 48-well plates coated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) and fibronectin (Sigma-Aldrich) at a density of 0.5 g tissue/cm². The cells were cultured for 24 h prior to the assay. All cultures were maintained in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C.

1.2.5. Myoblast culture

L6 rat myoblast and C2C12 mouse myoblast cell lines were purchased from KAC (Kyoto, Japan) and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS;

Gibco), 1% AA, and 0.5% gentamicin. For the BrdU-incorporation assay, the cells were seeded into 48-well plates at a density of 1×10^4 cells/well and cultured for 24 h prior to the assay.

1.2.6. In vitro BrdU-incorporation assay

The effect of each lemon myrtle extract on cell proliferation was evaluated using BrdU incorporation, which is an indicator of cell activation (entry into the cell cycle) and subsequent proliferation. Samples used for the assay were each lemon myrtle extract and recombinant human hepatocyte growth factor (HGF; positive control for SC activation [39], Gibco). Each sample was dissolved in water or DMSO and then resuspended in 10% HS-DMEM to the following final concentrations: lemon myrtle extract (1–10 μ g/mL) and HGF (5 ng/mL). The cells were prepared as described in Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5. The BrdU-incorporation assay was performed according to previously described methods with some modifications [37,40]. Briefly, each culture was washed three times, and the cell culture medium was replaced with 10% HS-DMEM (as the control, Ctrl) or 10% HS-DMEM containing each sample described above and incubated for 22 h. At least three independent cultures were performed for each treatment. The cultures were pulse-labeled with 10 µM BrdU (Sigma-Aldrich) in 10% HS-DMEM for 2 h followed by fixation with cold methanol-H₂O₂ for 10 min. BrdU-positive (BrdU⁺) cells were detected by immunocytochemistry using a monoclonal anti-BrdU antibody (1:500, Sigma-Aldrich), a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:500, Exalpha Biologicals, Shirley, MA, USA), and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich). The number of cells was counted under a microscope and the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells to the total number of cells was calculated. The data are shown as fold changes compared to the Ctrl.

1.2.7. In vivo BrdU-incorporation assay

The effect of lemon myrtle extract on SC activation in rat skeletal muscle was evaluated *in vivo* by administration of the extract and BrdU to rats. The assay was performed according to a previously described method [37]. Eighteen rats were divided into three groups (n = 6), and the rats in each group were orally administered the following samples daily for 4 d: Ctrl group received a mixture of COCONAD RK medium chain triglyceride (MCT; Kao, Tokyo, Japan) and POEM DOV-100 emulsifiers (E; Riken Vitamin, Tokyo, Japan) (1:1, v/v; MCT-E); Water Ext group received lemon myrtle water extract (500 mg/kg/day, dissolved in water); and 60% EtOH Ext group received lemon myrtle 60% ethanol extract (500 mg/kg/day, dissolved in MCT-E). Eight hours after the last administration, the animals were all intraperitoneally administered BrdU (50 mg/kg, dissolved in saline). The animals were sacrificed 16 h after BrdU administration, and SCs were isolated from the upper hindlimb muscle of each rat as

described in Section 1.2.4. Cells suspended in 10% HS-DMEM were seeded into 48-well plates (three wells per rat) and cultured for 24 h. BrdU⁺ cells were detected by immunocytochemistry as described in Section 1.2.6, and the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells to the total number of cells was calculated. The values of the three wells for each rat were averaged and then further averaged for each group. The data are shown as fold changes compared to the Ctrl group.

1.2.8. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical differences were analyzed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test, and statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. A correlation between extraction yield and total phenolic content was analyzed using Pearson correlation. Statistical analyses were performed using the statistical software package R (version 4.0.2, https://www.R-project.org/, accessed on 3 March 2022, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

1.3. Results

1.3.1. The extraction solvents affect the properties of the lemon myrtle extracts

To examine the effect of the type of solvent used for extraction from lemon myrtle leaves on the properties of lemon myrtle extracts, I prepared each lemon myrtle extract using water, aqueous ethanol (ethanol concentrations of 20%, 40%, 60%, and 80%), and 100% ethanol as extraction solvents and evaluated the extraction yield and total phenolic content. The extraction yield increased with ethanol concentrations up to 40% but decreased with ethanol concentrations above 60% (Table 1). A similar trend was observed for total phenolic content calculated in terms of gallic acid equivalent (GAE) (Table 1). There was a positive correlation between extraction yield and total phenolic content (Pearson r = 0.66).

Next, I evaluated the effect of extraction solvents on SC activation using an *in vitro* BrdU-incorporation assay. Compared to the control, HGF treatment (positive control) significantly increased the ratio of BrdU⁺ SCs (p < 0.01) (Figure 1). Treatment with lemon myrtle water and aqueous ethanol extracts (20%, 40%, and 60% ethanol concentrations) also significantly increased the ratio (water and 20% and 40% ethanol extracts: p < 0.01; and 60% ethanol extracts p = 0.01) (Figure 1). In contrast, treatment with 80% and 100% ethanol extracts did not significantly change the ratio (Figure 1). Collectively, I concluded that the mixing ratio of water and ethanol in the extraction solvent used for lemon myrtle extract must contain at

least 40% water to activate SCs.

Extraction solvent	Extraction yield (%) ^{*1}	Total phenolic content (mg GAE/g) ^{*2}
Water	17.3	273.4 ± 5.5
20% aqueous ethanol	22.1	331.3 ± 14.7
40% aqueous ethanol	22.4	383.2 ± 12.8
60% aqueous ethanol	21.4	373.9 ± 14.4
80% aqueous ethanol	18.2	311.0 ± 12.9
100% ethanol	8.8	297.1 ± 14.6

Table 1. Extraction yield and total phenolic content of lemon myrtle extracts in different types of extraction solvents.

^{*1} Extraction yield was calculated as dry weight of extract per initial dry weight of lemon myrtle leaves (%).

^{*2} Total phenolic content was calculated as milligram gallic acid equivalent (GAE) per gram dry weight of extract. Data represent the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) (n = 3).



Figure 1. Effects of lemon myrtle extracts in different extraction solvents and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) treatment on BrdU incorporation into skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs) *in vitro*. SCs were treated with each lemon myrtle extract or HGF for 22 h and then incubated with BrdU for an additional 2 h. The concentration of each lemon myrtle extract used was 2.5 μ g/mL. The HGF concentration used was 5 ng/mL. BrdU-positive (BrdU⁺) cells were detected by immunocytochemistry and the number of cells was counted. BrdU incorporation into SCs is expressed as BrdU⁺ SCs per total SCs and is shown as a fold change compared to the control (Ctrl). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent cultures. * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. EtOH: ethanol; Ext: extract.

1.3.2. Oral administration of lemon myrtle extracts activates SCs in vivo

To determine whether lemon myrtle extract also activates SCs *in vivo*, I orally administered lemon myrtle extract to rats and evaluated SC activation in rat skeletal muscle. The experimental design is illustrated in Figure 2a. Rats in the Ctrl, Water Ext, and 60% EtOH Ext groups were orally administered solvent, lemon myrtle water extract, and lemon myrtle 60% ethanol extract, respectively, followed by intraperitoneal injection of BrdU, and BrdU incorporation into SCs was evaluated. The results showed that the ratio of BrdU⁺ SCs was significantly increased in the Water Ext and 60% EtOH Ext groups compared to the Ctrl group (Water Ext group: p < 0.01, and 60% EtOH Ext group: p = 0.01) (Figure 2b). Thus, I found that oral administration of both water and 60% ethanol extracts of lemon myrtle activated SCs in skeletal muscle. Thereafter, a water-soluble lemon myrtle water extract was selected for development of lemon myrtle extract as a variety of food products.



Figure 2. Lemon myrtle water and 60% ethanol extracts promote BrdU incorporation into SCs *in vivo*. (**a**) Experimental design of *in vivo* BrdU-incorporation assay. Rats in each group were orally administered samples (Ctrl group: a mixture of medium chain triglyceride and emulsifiers [MCT-E]; Water Ext group: lemon myrtle water extract [500 mg/kg in water]; or 60% EtOH Ext group: lemon myrtle 60% ethanol extract [500 mg/kg in MCT-E]) daily for 4 d. Eight hours after the last administration of each sample, all animals were intraperitoneally administered BrdU (50 mg/kg), and then 16 h later, animals were sacrificed, and SCs were isolated. (**b**) Effects of lemon myrtle water and 60% ethanol extracts administration on BrdU incorporation into SCs. BrdU incorporation into SCs is expressed as BrdU⁺ SCs per total SCs and is shown as a fold change compared to the Ctrl. Data represent the mean \pm SD of each group (three independent cultures per rat). * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl.

1.3.3. Lemon myrtle water extract treatment does not activate myoblasts in vitro

SCs are normally maintained in a quiescent state, but when skeletal muscle is stimulated, SCs are activated and divide to produce myoblasts. To investigate whether lemon myrtle water extract (LM) specifically activates SCs, I compared the effects of LM treatment on the activation of primary rat SCs and myoblast cell lines (L6 rat and C2C12 mouse myoblasts) by *in vitro* BrdU-incorporation assays. In SCs, LM treatment as well as HGF treatment (positive control) significantly increased the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells compared to the control, with the effect plateauing at 1.0–10 µg/mL of LM (1.0 and 5.0 µg/mL: p < 0.01, and 10 µg/mL: p = 0.03) (Figure 3a). By contrast, in any myoblast cell lines, LM treatment did not significantly change the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells at any concentration (Figure 3b). Therefore, I concluded that LM specifically promoted the proliferation of SCs.



Figure 3. Lemon myrtle water extract (LM) promotes BrdU incorporation into SCs but not into myoblasts *in vitro*. (a) Effects of LM and HGF treatment on BrdU incorporation into SCs. (b) Effects of LM treatment on BrdU incorporation into L6 rat myoblast cells (left) and C2C12 mouse myoblast cells (right). SCs and myoblast cells were treated with LM or HGF for 22 h and then incubated with BrdU for an additional 2 h. The LM concentration is indicated in the figure. The HGF concentration used was 5 ng/mL. BrdU incorporation into each cell is expressed as BrdU⁺ cells per total cells and is shown as a fold change compared to the Ctrl. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent cultures. * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. This figure was quoted and modified from the literature [28].

1.4. Discussion

In this chapter, I showed that the type of extraction solvent affected the extraction yield and total phenolic content of lemon myrtle extract. Alderees et al. also prepared water and ethanol extracts of lemon myrtle and reported the extraction yield and total phenolic content [22]. The extraction yield (16.3%) and total phenolic content (281.7 mg GAE/g) of the water extract in the study by Alderees et al. [22] were both similar to those in the present study (17.3% and 273.4 mg GAE/g, respectively, Table 1). In contrast, the extraction yield and total phenolic content of the ethanol extract in the study by Alderees et al. (17.9% and 373.2 mg GAE/g, respectively) [22] were both higher than those in this work (8.8% and 297.1 mg GAE/g, respectively, Table 1). One possible reason for the differences in the ethanol extracts may be due to the origin of the lemon myrtle. In this study, lemon myrtle was sourced from Airlie Beach, Queensland, Australia, whereas in the study by Alderees et al., it was sourced from Lismore, New South Wales, Australia. Another possibility is the difference in the extraction methods. In this study, cut samples were extracted with solvent at 50°C for 2 h, whereas in the study by Alderees et al., powder samples were extracted at 60°C for five cycles of pressurized liquid extraction. In contrast, the water extracts prepared in this study and in the study by Alderees et al. had similar extraction yield and total phenolic content, suggesting that water extraction would be suitable for production of lemon myrtle extract with stable quality, since this procedure is less affected by the origin of the materials and extraction methods.

Next, I found that the mixing ratio of water and ethanol in the extraction solvent affected the activation of SCs by lemon myrtle extract. Lemon myrtle extract activated SCs when the extraction solvent contained more than 40% water, suggesting that the relatively hydrophilic compounds in lemon myrtle extract may be responsible for SC activation. Furthermore, I showed that administration of lemon myrtle water and 60% ethanol extracts activated SCs in rat skeletal muscle. In the study by Kim et al. on the preparation of muscadine seed extracts with antimicrobial activity, a water extract was selected because of its water solubility for addition to beverages [41]. Similarly, in lemon myrtle extracts, the water extract is soluble in water and could be processed into a variety of foods, including beverages, whereas the 60% ethanol extract is insoluble in water and may be limited in food processing. In addition, since sarcopenia reduces swallowing muscles and causes dysphagia [42,43], it is difficult for some older adults to intake dietary supplements in regular capsule form, and food processing suitable for older adults may be required. Therefore, to develop lemon myrtle extract as a variety of food products that can be taken by older adults, I decided to select the water extract, considering its water solubility as well as its SC activation properties.

Finally, I showed that lemon myrtle water extract did not activate myoblast cell lines *in vitro*. In contrast, Sakulnarmrat et al. reported that an 80% aqueous methanol extract of lemon

myrtle reduced the proliferation of colon, stomach, bladder, and liver cancer cell lines [44]. Although there are differences between the present study and the study by Sakulnarmrat et al. in terms of extraction procedures and evaluation methods, lemon myrtle extract may have a specific proliferative effect on SCs. Future *in vivo* studies are required to clarify the specificity of cell proliferation by lemon myrtle extract to confirm that supplementation with lemon myrtle extract does not induce unexpected cell proliferation *in vivo*.

Chapter 2: Casuarinin is the active compound in lemon myrtle extract involved in activation of skeletal muscle satellite cells (SCs)

2.1. Introduction

In Chapter 1, I examined the effects of the extraction solvents used in the preparation of lemon myrtle extracts on total phenolic content and skeletal muscle satellite cell (SC) activation properties, and selected the water extraction method that exhibited high SC activation capacity and could be produced with stable quality. It has been suggested that relatively hydrophilic compounds in lemon myrtle water extract (LM) may be involved in SC activation, but the active compounds involved in SC activation were unknown. It was also unclear by what mechanism LM activates SCs.

In this chapter, I attempted to elucidate the mechanism of action of SC activation by LM. First, I sought to identify the active compound responsible for SC activation by LM. Next, I performed structure–activity relationship analysis of the active compound to further elucidate its SC activation capacity. I also evaluated the effect of LM and its active compound on the expression of interleukin-6 (IL-6), a signaling molecule important for SC activation and proliferation. Finally, I examined the effect of oral administration of the active compound on SC activation *in vivo*.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Preparation of lemon myrtle water extract (LM)

Cut and dried samples of lemon myrtle leaves were supplied by Australian Native Lemon Myrtle Farms (Airlie Beach, Queensland, Australia). The weighed samples were extracted with 5-fold volume of water for 2 h at 50°C. The extract was filtered through an α -cellulose membrane, and the supernatant was collected. These procedures were repeated twice. The supernatants from the two extractions were combined, and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure at 50°C using a rotary evaporator. The concentrated extract was then freeze-dried under reduced pressure, and the lyophilized powder (LM) obtained was stored at 4°C until further use.

2.2.2. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis

The major compounds in LM were analyzed using LC-MS/MS. A Nexera X2 UHPLC system (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) equipped with a binary pump, a column oven, and a photodiode array (PDA) detector was coupled to a maXis 4G quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source (Bruker, Billerica, MA, USA). Chromatographic separation was performed using a YMC-Pack ODS-A column (250 \times 4.6 mm, 5 µm; YMC, Kyoto, Japan). The mobile phases consisted of acetonitrile/methanol (1:1,

v/v) (A) and 0.1% formic acid in water (B) in a gradient elution analysis programmed as follows: 95–85% (B) at 0–20 min, 85–70% (B) at 20–100 min, 70% (B) at 100–120 min, and 70–95% (B) at 120–140 min. The flow rate was 0.7 mL/min. LM was dissolved in distilled water (1 mg/mL) and 10 µL was injected. The column temperature was set at 40°C. UV spectra were recorded at 260 nm. The ESI interface was operated in the negative mode, and the mass (MS) spectra were acquired in the mass range of 50–1500 m/z. Tentative identification of compounds was performed by comparing MS and MS/MS spectra with data available on MassBank (http://www.massbank.jp/, accessed on 3 March 2022) and MetFrag (https://ipb-halle.github.io/MetFrag/, accessed on 3 March 2022) online databases.

2.2.3. High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis

Identification and quantification of peaks tentatively identified by LC-MS/MS were performed using a prominence HPLC system (Shimadzu). Among the peaks, four peaks were identified and quantified by HPLC using analytical standards (the same materials as described in Section 2.2.7), whereas one peak (casuarinin) was identified by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis (described in Section 2.2.4) and quantified by HPLC using chemically synthesized casuarinin [45], a kind gift from Dr. Yamada and Dr. Wakamori (Kwansei Gakuin University and Tokyo University of Agriculture, respectively). The separation conditions were the same as those described for LC-MS/MS in Section 2.2.2, except for the mobile phases, sample preparation, and sample injection volumes. The mobile phases consisted of acetonitrile/methanol (1:1, v/v) (A) and 20 mM phosphoric acid in water (B) in a gradient elution analysis programmed as follows: 95–85% (B) at 0–20 min, 85–82.2% (B) at 20–35 min, 82.2–70% (B) at 35–55 min, and 70% (B) at 55–75 min. Each sample was prepared as follows: LM was dissolved in water (2 mg/mL), and each standard was dissolved in methanol (2–200 μ g/mL). Sample injection volumes were 5 μ L. Peaks were detected in the range of 200–800 nm and identified by the retention time and spectrum compared with each standard. Quantification of each compound was performed using standard curves at 260 or 270 nm, and the results are shown as milligram of each compound per gram dry weight of LM.

2.2.4. Casuarinin isolation and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis

To determine the molecular structure of casuarinin peak estimated by LC-MS/MS, I performed the peak isolation and NMR analysis. The peak was isolated from LM using threestep column chromatography. First, LM was applied to a Diaion HP-20 column (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and eluted with 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, and 40% aqueous methanol to obtain 10 fractions. Based on the HPLC chromatogram of each fraction, the fractions eluted with 20% and 30% aqueous methanol were collected. Next, the fractions were applied to a Toyopearl HW-40C column (Tosoh, Tokyo, Japan) and eluted with 50% aqueous methanol. Following fractionation, samples enriched with target peak were collected. Finally, the samples were reapplied to a Toyopearl HW-40C column using the same method as described above, and a pure target sample was isolated. The isolated sample was subsequently analyzed using an AVANCE NEO 700 NMR spectrometer (Bruker). ¹H NMR (700 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (176 MHz) spectra were obtained in methanol- d_4 at 30°C using tetramethylsilane as the internal standard. The molecular structure of the sample was determined by LC-MS/MS (described in Section 2.2.2) and NMR data compared with the literature data [46].

2.2.5. Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats were purchased from Japan SLC (Shizuoka, Japan) at 13week-old for an *in vivo* assay and over 6-month-old for *in vitro* assays. Animals were housed at constant humidity ($55\% \pm 10\%$) and temperature ($22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$) in a 12 h light/dark cycle and had free access to food (CE-2; Clea Japan, Tokyo, Japan) and water. Animals were acclimated to the environment for one week prior to the experiments. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Kaneka Corporation (approval number: 2019-17 and 2020-6, approval date: 29 March 2019, and 31 March 2020, respectively), and conducted in accordance with the guidelines for animal experiments of Kaneka Corporation.

2.2.6. SC isolation and culture

SC isolation and culture were performed according to previously described methods with slight modifications [36–38]. Briefly, after the rats were euthanized, the upper hindlimb and back muscles were excised, and adipose and connective tissues were trimmed. The muscle tissues were minced with scissors and digested for 1 h at 37°C with 1.25 mg/mL protease type XIV (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were separated from muscle fiber fragments and tissue debris by differential centrifugation and filtration through cell strainers (100 and 40 µm). Following further centrifugation, cells were suspended in one of the following media: (1) 10% HS-DMEM; Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10% horse serum (HS; Gibco), 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution (AA; Gibco), and 0.5% gentamicin (Gibco) for 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU)-incorporation assay; and (2) 20% FBS-Ham's F-10; Ham's F-10 nutrient mixture medium (Ham's F-10; Gibco) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco), 1% AA, and 0.5% gentamicin for mRNA expression assay. For the BrdU-incorporation assay, the cells were seeded into 48-well plates coated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) and fibronectin (Sigma-Aldrich) at a density of 0.5 g tissue/cm². The cells were cultured for 24 h prior to the assay. For the mRNA expression assay, the cells were seeded into 90 mm dishes coated with poly-L-lysine and fibronectin at a density of 0.1 g tissue/cm² and cultured for 16 h. To enrich the cell density, the cells were washed three times, harvested using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco), and reseeded into 24-well plates coated with poly-L-lysine and fibronectin at a density of 3.5×10^4 cells/well. The cells were cultured for a further 8 h prior to the assay. All cultures were maintained in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C.

2.2.7. In vitro BrdU-incorporation assay

The effects of LM-derived compounds on cell proliferation were evaluated using BrdU incorporation, which is an indicator of cell activation (entry into the cell cycle) and subsequent proliferation. Samples used for the assay are listed as follows: casuarinin (isolated from LM, described in Section 2.2.4), gallic acid (ChromaDex, Los Angeles, CA, USA), myricitrin (Adoog Bioscience, Irvine, CA, USA), hyperin (Extrasynthese, Genay Cedex, France), quercitrin (Extrasynthese), ellagic acid (Fujifilm Wako Pure Chemical, Osaka, Japan), casuarictin (Nagara Science, Gifu, Japan), castalagin (Sigma-Aldrich), and recombinant human hepatocyte growth factor (HGF; positive control for SC activation [39], Gibco). Each sample was dissolved in water or dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and then resuspended in 10% HS-DMEM to the following final concentrations: casuarinin (13-400 nM), gallic acid, myricitrin, hyperin, and quercitrin (25-100 nM each); ellagic acid, casuarictin, and castalagin (250 nM each); and HGF (5 ng/mL). The cells were prepared as described in Section 2.2.6. The BrdU-
incorporation assay was performed according to previously described methods with some modifications [37,40]. Briefly, each culture was washed three times, and the cell culture medium was replaced with 10% HS-DMEM (as the control, Ctrl) or 10% HS-DMEM containing each sample described above and incubated for 22 h. At least three independent cultures were performed for each treatment. The cultures were pulse-labeled with 10 µM BrdU (Sigma-Aldrich) in 10% HS-DMEM for 2 h followed by fixation with cold methanol-H₂O₂ for 10 min. BrdU-positive (BrdU⁺) cells were detected by immunocytochemistry using a monoclonal anti-BrdU antibody (1:500, Sigma-Aldrich), a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:500, Exalpha Biologicals, Shirley, MA, USA), and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich). The number of cells was counted under a microscope and the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells to the total number of cells was calculated. The data are shown as fold changes compared to the Ctrl.

2.2.8. In vitro mRNA expression assay

The effects of LM and its derived compounds on *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs were evaluated *in vitro*. Each sample was dissolved in water or DMSO and then resuspended in 20% FBS-Ham's F-10 to the following final concentrations: LM ($2.5 \mu g/mL$), casuarinin (330 nM), hyperin, and quercitrin (220 nM each). The cells were prepared as described in Section 2.2.6.

The supernatant of each culture was replaced with 20% FBS-Ham's F-10 (Ctrl) or 20% FBS-Ham's F-10 containing each sample described above and incubated for 16 h. Four independent cultures were performed for each treatment. The cultures were washed twice, and total RNAs were isolated using the RNeasy Plus Micro Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA samples were quantified and qualified with a NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and then reverse transcribed using SuperScript IV VILO Master Mix (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed using a QuantStudio 3 real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Reaction samples were prepared using TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) and TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The following two probes were used: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (Rn99999916 s1) and IL-6 (Rn01410330 m1). IL-6 gene expression levels were normalized to *GAPDH* using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. The data are shown as fold changes compared to the Ctrl.

2.2.9. *In vivo* BrdU-incorporation assay

The effect of casuarinin on SC activation in rat skeletal muscle was evaluated in vivo

by administration of casuarinin and BrdU to rats. The assay was performed according to a previously described method [37]. Twenty rats were divided into four groups (n = 5), and the rats in each group were orally administered samples (Ctrl group: water; LM group: LM [250 mg/kg/day, dissolved in water]; or casuarinin groups [two doses]: casuarinin [4 or 8 mg/kg/day, dissolved in water]) daily for 4 d. Eight hours after the last administration, the animals were all intraperitoneally administered BrdU (50 mg/kg, dissolved in saline). The animals were sacrificed 16 h after BrdU administration, and SCs were isolated from the upper hindlimb muscle of each rat as described in Section 2.2.6. Cells suspended in 10% HS-DMEM were seeded into 48-well plates (three wells per rat) and cultured for 24 h. BrdU⁺ cells were detected by immunocytochemistry as described in Section 2.2.7, and the ratio of BrdU⁺ cells to the total number of cells was calculated. The values of the three wells for each rat were averaged and then further averaged for each group. The data are shown as fold changes compared to the Ctrl group.

2.2.10. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical differences were analyzed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test, and statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. A correlation between casuarinin concentration and *in* *vitro* BrdU incorporation was analyzed using Pearson correlation. Statistical analyses were performed using the statistical software package R (version 4.0.2, https://www.R-project.org/, accessed on 3 March 2022, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Identification and quantification of the major compounds in LM

LC-MS/MS, HPLC, and NMR analyses were performed to identify the major compounds in LM. First, five peaks in LM were tentatively identified by LC-MS/MS analysis (Table 2). Next, four of these five compounds, for which analytical standards were available, were confirmed by HPLC analysis to be gallic acid, myricitrin, hyperin, and quercitrin. However, the remaining one peak estimated by LC-MS/MS analysis had no available analytical standard. Therefore, the peak was isolated from LM and analyzed by NMR. Based on ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra compared to literature data, this peak was identified as casuarinin (Table 3 and Figure 4). In addition, the content of these five compounds in LM was determined by HPLC analysis (Table 4); among the five compounds, the highest content in LM was quercitrin (38.8 mg/g) and the lowest was gallic acid (2.5 mg/g). A representative HPLC chromatogram of LM with the identified peaks is shown in Figure 5.

Compound	Retention time	Molecular	$[M-H]^-$	Fragment ions
Compound	(min)	formula	(m/z)	(m/z)
Gallic acid	9.6	$C_7H_6O_5$	169.0141	125.0236
Coquaninin	26.2	CILO	U O 025 0760	300.9978
Casuarinin	20.5	$C_{41}H_{28}O_{26}$	955.0709	169.0133
Myricitrin	64.2	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{12}$	463.0862	316.0211
Hyperin	67.8	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{12}$	463.0862	300.0261
Quercitrin	84.5	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	447.0915	300.0262

Table 2. Tentative identification of major compounds in lemon myrtle water extract (LM)detected by LC-MS/MS.

This table was quoted from the literature [28].

¹ H NMR position		δ (this study) (multiplicity, J [Hz])ª		δ (reported) (multiplicity, J [Hz]) ^b		Δδ ^c
2,3-HHDP	H-3′	6.39	6.39 (1H, s)		(1H, s)	0.02
4,6-HHDP	Н-3	6.82	(1H, s)	6.81	(1H, s)	0.01
	H-3'	6.51	(1H, s)	6.49	(1H, s)	0.02
Galloyl	Н-2,6	7.08	(2H, s)	7.07	(2H, s)	0.01
Glucose	H-1	5.52	(d, J = 5.0)	5.50	(d, J = 4.9)	0.02
	H-2	4.70	(dd, J = 2.1, 5.0)	4.68	(dd, J = 2.4, 4.9)	0.02
	Н-3	5.38	(t, J = 2.0)	5.36	(m)	0.02
	H-4	5.45	(dd, J = 1.9, 8.7)	5.44	(dd, J = 1.2, 9.8)	0.01
	H-5	5.31	(dd, J = 3.0, 8.8)	5.30	(dd, J = 2.4, 8.5)	0.01
	H-6	4.91	(dd, J = 3.5, 13.4)	4.90	(dd, J = 3.7, 13.4)	0.01
	H-6	4.06	(d, J = 13.1)	4.04	(d, J = 13.4)	0.02

Table 3. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of casuarinin (comparison of this study and reported data [46]).

Table	3.	(continued).	
		(•••••••)	

¹³ C NMR p	osition	δ (this st	tudy) ^a	δ (repo	orted) ^b	$\Delta \delta^{c}$
2,3-HHDP	C-1	117.0		117.0		0.0
	C-1′	116.7		116.7		0.0
	C-2	120.2		120.2		0.0
	C-2'	125.2		125.2		0.0
	C-3	118.0		118.0		0.0
	C-3'	105.3		105.3		0.0
	C-4	147.0		147.0		0.0
	C-4'	146.5		146.5		0.0
	C-5	140.1		140.1		0.0
	C-5'	135.9		135.8		0.1
	C-6	145.0		145.0		0.0
	C-6′	145.0		144.9		0.1
	C-7	167.1		167.0		0.1
	C-7′	171.0		171.0		0.0
4,6-HHDP	C-1	116.7		116.7		0.0
	C-1′	116.0		116.0		0.0
	C-2	127.6		127.6		0.0
	C-2'	127.1		127.1		0.0
	C-3	109.3		109.2		0.1
	C-3'	107.7		107.7		0.0
	C-4	146.0		145.9		0.1
	C-4′	146.0		146.0		0.0
	C-5	137.9		137.9		0.0
	C-5'	137.1		137.1		0.0
	C-6	144.4		144.4		0.0
	C-6′	144.5		144.5		0.0
	C-7	169.5		169.5		0.0
	C-7′	170.4		170.4		0.0
Galloyl	C-1	120.8		120.8		0.0
	C-2,6	110.5	(2C)	110.4	(2C)	0.1
	C-3,5	146.7	(2C)	146.7		0.0
	C-4	140.4		140.3		0.1
	C-7	167.2		167.2		0.0

¹³ C NMR p	osition	δ (this study) ^a	δ (reported) ^b	$\Delta \delta^{c}$
Glucose	C-1	67.8	67.8	0.0
	C-2	78.1	78.0	0.1
	C-3	70.7	70.7	0.0
	C-4	74.8	74.8	0.0
	C-5	71.8	71.7	0.1
	C-6	65.2	65.1	0.1

Table 3. (continued).

Spectra were acquired in methanol- d_4 . ^{a 1}H NMR (700 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (176 MHz). ^{b 1}H NMR (500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (125 MHz). ^c Difference between δ (this study) – δ (reported). This table was quoted from the literature [28].



Figure 4. Chemical structure of casuarinin. The numbers correspond to ¹H and ¹³C NMR positions (Table 3).

Compound	Content (mg/g)
Gallic acid	2.5
Casuarinin	16.1
Myricitrin	12.6
Hyperin	19.1
Quercitrin	38.8

Table 4. Content of the major compounds in LM.

Data are shown as milligram of each compound per gram dry weight of LM. This table was quoted from the literature [28].



Figure 5. HPLC chromatogram of LM at 270 nm. Gallic acid, myricitrin, hyperin, and quercitrin were identified by comparison with standard compounds in HPLC analysis following LC-MS/MS. Casuarinin was identified by NMR analysis following LC-MS/MS. This figure was quoted from the literature [28].

2.3.2. Only casuarinin activates SCs among the major compounds in LM

To determine the active compounds in LM involved in SC activation, I evaluated the effect of the major compounds identified in LM on SC activation in vitro. I found that treatment with casuarinin significantly promoted BrdU incorporation into SCs (p < 0.05), whereas the other four compounds did not (Figure 6a). Casuarinin treatment significantly increased BrdU incorporation into SCs in the range of 50–400 nM (50, 100, and 200 nM: p < 0.01; and 400 nM: p = 0.02) (Figure 6b). There was little correlation between casuarinin concentration and BrdU incorporation (Pearson r = 0.22). The effective concentration of casuarinin (50–400 nM) corresponds to 47-375 ng/mL, calculated from its molecular weight of 936.7. From the effective concentration of LM (1.0-10 µg/mL; Chapter 1, Figure 3a) and casuarinin content in LM (16.1 mg/g, Table 4), the effective concentration of casuarinin in LM was calculated to be 16-161 ng/mL, which was equivalent to the measured effective concentration of casuarinin described above (47–375 ng/mL, Figure 6b). Taken together, these data suggest that casuarinin is one of the active compounds in LM involved in SC activation in vitro.



Figure 6. Casuarinin promotes BrdU incorporation into SCs *in vitro*. (a) Effects of the major compounds identified in LM on BrdU incorporation into SCs. (b) Effects of casuarinin concentration on BrdU incorporation into SCs. The concentration of each sample (except for HGF) is indicated in the figure. The HGF concentration used was 5 ng/mL. BrdU incorporation into SCs is expressed as BrdU⁺ SCs per total SCs and is shown as a fold change compared to the Ctrl. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent cultures, except for Ctrl and HGF (nine independent cultures). * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. This figure was quoted and modified from the literature [28].

2.3.3. Structurally related compounds of casuarinin do not activate SCs

Casuarinin is one of the ellagitannins, which consists of two hexahydroxydiphenoyl (HHDP) groups and a galloyl group linked to an open-chain form of glucose core. The chemical structure of casuarinin is shown in the top left of Figure 7a. As shown in this figure, one HHDP group links to O-2 and O-3 of glucose (called the 2,3-HHDP group), the other HHDP group links to O-4 and O-6 of glucose (called the 4,6-HHDP group), and the galloyl group links to O-5 of glucose (called the 5-galloyl group). The 2,3-HHDP group is additionally linked to C-1 of glucose; therefore, casuarinin is called a *C*-glycosidic ellagitannin.

I showed that among the major compounds in LM, casuarinin activated SCs, whereas gallic acid, a partial structure of casuarinin, did not activate SCs (Figure 6a). Therefore, I focused on the molecular structure of casuarinin and evaluated whether compounds structurally related to casuarinin activate SCs *in vitro*. To this end, three compounds were selected (shown in Figure 7a): (1) ellagic acid, a derivative of casuarinin; (2) casuarictin, a structural isomer of casuarinin; and (3) castalagin, an ellagitannin that has intramolecular coupling of the 2,3-HHDP and 5-galloyl groups in casuarinin. Treatment of SCs with these compounds showed that only casuarinin significantly promoted BrdU incorporation into SCs (p < 0.01), whereas the other related compounds had no effect (Figure 7b). The structural similarities and differences between casuarinin and the related compounds are as follows: (1) ellagic acid is a

lactonized compound of HHDP, which is a partial structure of casuarinin; (2) casuarictin has the same 2,3-HHDP and 4,6-HHDP groups as casuarinin, but differs from casuarinin in the number of hydroxyl groups and the position of the galloyl group due to the glucose moiety in closed form; and (3) castalagin has the same 4,6-HHDP group linked to the open-chain glucose moiety as casuarinin, but differs from casuarinin in the nonahydroxytriphenoyl (NHTP) group linked to the 2,3,5-positions of glucose moiety. None of these compounds activated SCs, suggesting that SC activation is not induced by all ellagitannins and their derivative, but rather by the casuarinin molecular structure—i.e., the 2,3-HHDP, 4,6-HHDP, and 5-galloyl groups linked to the open-chain glucose moiety.



Figure 7. Structurally related compounds of casuarinin do not promote BrdU incorporation into SCs *in vitro*. (a) Chemical structures of the ellagitannins (casuarinin, casuarictin, and castalagin) and their derivative (ellagic acid). (b) Effects of the ellagitannins and their derivative (250 nM each) on BrdU incorporation into SCs. BrdU incorporation into SCs is expressed as BrdU⁺ SCs per total SCs and is shown as a fold change compared to the Ctrl. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent cultures. * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. This figure was quoted and modified from the literature [28].

2.3.4. LM or casuarinin treatment upregulates *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs

Skeletal muscle is an endocrine organ that produces and secretes various cytokines called myokines. Among the myokines, IL-6 is the first identified and the most studied myokine [47] and plays a key role in the regulation of muscle homeostasis and SC response [48]. Several studies have shown that IL-6 induces the activation and proliferation of SCs [49–51], and *IL-6* knockout experiments have shown that IL-6 is essential for SC activation and proliferation and subsequent muscle hypertrophy [50].

To investigate whether IL-6 is involved as a signaling molecule in SC activation by LM and casuarinin, I evaluated *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs *in vitro*. SCs isolated from rats were reseeded to enrich the cell density and incubated with each sample for 16 h, after which *IL-6* mRNA expression levels were quantified. Treatment with LM or casuarinin, which promoted BrdU incorporation into SCs (Figure 3a in Chapter 1 or Figure 6a, respectively), significantly upregulated *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs compared to the control (both LM and casuarinin: p < 0.01) (Figure 8, left panel). In contrast, treatment with hyperin or quercitrin, which had no effect on BrdU incorporation into SCs (Figure 6a), did not affect *IL-6* mRNA expression (Figure 8, right panel). Collectively, these data indicate that SC activation by LM and casuarinin is associated with upregulation of *IL-6* mRNA expression.



Figure 8. LM and casuarinin upregulate *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs *in vitro*. SCs were treated with LM (2.5 μ g/mL), casuarinin (330 nM), hyperin (220 nM), or quercitrin (220 nM) for 16 h and *IL-6* mRNA expression levels were quantified and normalized to *GAPDH*. Data are shown as fold changes versus Ctrl and represent the mean ± SD of four independent cultures. * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. This figure was quoted and modified from the literature [28].

2.3.5. Oral administration of casuarinin activates SCs in vivo

To determine whether casuarinin in LM induces SC activation in vivo as well, I orally administered LM or casuarinin to rats and evaluated SC activation in rat skeletal muscle. The experimental design is illustrated in Figure 9a. Rats were orally administered water (as the control), LM (250 mg/kg/day), or casuarinin (4 or 8 mg/kg/day) daily for 4 d, followed by intraperitoneal administration of BrdU, then BrdU incorporation into SCs was examined. Compared with the control group, rats administered LM or casuarinin (both doses) significantly increased BrdU incorporation into SCs (LM: p < 0.01, casuarinin (4 mg/kg): p = 0.04, and casuarinin (8 mg/kg): p < 0.01) (Figure 9b). The casuarinin content in the effective dose of LM (250 or 500 mg/kg, Figure 9b or Figure 2b in Chapter 1, respectively) was 4 or 8 mg/kg, which was consistent with the actual effective dose of casuarinin (4 or 8 mg/kg, Figure 9b). Thus, I concluded that casuarinin is the active compound in LM that activates SCs both in vitro and in vivo.



Figure 9. Casuarinin in LM promotes BrdU incorporation into SCs *in vivo*. (a) Experimental design of *in vivo* BrdU-incorporation assay. Rats in each group were orally administered water (Ctrl), LM, or casuarinin daily for 4 d. Eight hours after the last administration of each sample, all animals were intraperitoneally administered BrdU (50 mg/kg), and then 16 h later, animals were sacrificed, and SCs were isolated. (b) Effects of LM and casuarinin administration on BrdU incorporation into SCs. The daily dose of each sample is shown in the figure. BrdU incorporation into SCs is expressed as BrdU⁺ SCs per total SCs and is shown as a fold change compared to the Ctrl. Data represent the mean \pm SD of each group (three independent cultures per rat). * Significant differences (p < 0.05) relative to the Ctrl. This figure was quoted and modified from the literature [28].

2.4. Discussion

In this chapter, I identified five major compounds in LM: gallic acid, casuarinin, myricitrin, hyperin, and quercitrin. Among the five compounds, gallic acid, myricitrin, and hyperin have previously been identified in lemon myrtle [52–54]. To the best of my knowledge, casuarinin and quercitrin have been identified as constituents of lemon myrtle for the first time in this study. Furthermore, I investigated whether each major compound activated SCs or not. Based on three criteria (the effective concentration of LM, content of each compound in LM, and the evaluated concentration of each compound), I showed that only casuarinin activated SCs at the concentration contained in the effective concentration of LM. However, I cannot rule out the possibility that unidentified trace compounds present in LM may also activate SCs and that multiple compounds present in LM collectively regulate SC activation. Therefore, it is unclear whether casuarinin is the only active compound in LM. A comprehensive analysis of compounds present in LM and their activities will provide a deeper understanding of the active compounds present in LM. Interestingly, each of the five major compounds identified in LM, as well as lemon myrtle extract discussed in Chapter 1, has been reported to inhibit cancer cell proliferation [55-62]. In contrast, I showed that only casuarinin activated SCs, whereas the other four compounds did not. Therefore, the effects of LM and casuarinin on SCs may involve different mechanisms than those on other cells, including cancer cells. Evaluating the effects

of each compound present in LM on various cells may help to clarify why LM is thought to activate only SCs.

Casuarinin is a C-glycosidic ellagitannin that consists of an open-chain form of glucose, two HHDP groups, and a galloyl group. The molecular structure of casuarinin is not similar to that of the other four major compounds identified in LM, which do not activate SCs. Among the four major compounds, myricitrin, hyperin, and quercitrin are flavonol glycosides and differ from ellagitannins in terms of both their overall and partial structures. In contrast, gallic acid is a partial structure of ellagitannins but does not activate SCs. To examine the relationship between the molecular structure of casuarinin and SC activation, I evaluated whether structurally related compounds of casuarinin could activate SCs. First, ellagic acid, which is a lactonized compound of HHDP and is a partial structure of casuarinin, did not activate SCs. Since neither gallic acid nor ellagic acid induced SC activation, it is likely that the partial structure of casuarinin does not have SC activation properties. Next, casuarictin, which is a structural isomer of casuarinin, did not activate SCs. The differences in molecular structure between casuarinin and casuarictin are the glucose moiety (casuarinin has an open form, whereas casuarictin has a closed form), the number of hydroxyl groups (casuarinin has 16 OH groups, whereas casuarictin has 15), and the position of the galloyl group (in casuarinin, the galloyl group bonds to O-5 of glucose, whereas in casuarictin, it bonds to O-1 of glucose)

(Figure 7a). Plaza et al. have shown that differences in the molecular structures of these isomers affect the strength of their antioxidant capacity [63]. Therefore, it is likely that the differences in the molecular structure between these isomers affect SC activation as well. Finally, castalagin, which is an ellagitannin with a 2,3,5-NHTP group, also did not affect SC activation. The 2,3,5-NHTP group in castalagin is the intramolecular coupling of the 2,3-HHDP and 5galloyl groups in casuarinin. Casuarinin has a rigid 2,3-HHDP group and a rotatable 5-galloyl group, whereas castalagin has a rigid 2,3,5-NHTP group. Therefore, castalagin has a more rigid structure than casuarinin. Kaneshima et al. have shown that differences in the structural flexibility between casuarinin and castalagin may affect the strength of antioxidant activity [64]. Collectively, the molecular structure of casuarinin may contribute to the activation of SCs. It will be interesting to evaluate SC activation properties of analogs with partially substituted molecular structure of casuarinin.

IL-6 is the first identified and most studied myokine and plays a key role in the regulation of muscle homeostasis and SC response [47,48]. Several studies have shown the effects of IL-6 on SC and myoblast activation and proliferation. Kurosaka et al. reported that IL-6 treatment induced activation and proliferation of SCs *in vitro* [51]. Zhang et al. reported that *in vitro* myoblast activation by IL-6 is counteracted by an IL-6 neutralizing antibody [65]. Moreover, Weigert et al. showed that IL-6 treatment increased *IL-6* mRNA expression in

myoblasts in vitro [66]. Collectively, these results suggest that the activation and proliferation of SCs and myoblasts by IL-6 are regulated in an autocrine manner via the upregulation of IL-6 mRNA expression. Here, I investigated the involvement of IL-6 in SC activation by LM and casuarinin in vitro. I showed that LM or casuarinin treatment significantly upregulated IL-6 mRNA expression in SCs, whereas hyperin or quercitrin treatment, which did not activate SCs, did not change IL-6 mRNA expression in SCs. These results suggest that the SC activation properties by LM and its major compounds are associated with *IL-6* mRNA expression in SCs. In addition to *in vitro* studies, animal and human studies have shown that IL-6 is involved in skeletal muscle hypertrophy mediated by SCs. Serrano et al. reported that compensatory hypertrophy increased IL-6 mRNA and IL-6 protein expression in the muscle of normal mice and that *IL-6* knockout mice exhibited blunted muscle hypertrophy and suppressed SC activation and proliferation following compensatory hypertrophy [50]. McKay et al. demonstrated that muscle-lengthening contractions in humans increased the number of SCs, IL-6 protein levels in serum, and IL-6 mRNA levels in muscle [67]. Begue et al. showed that acute resistance exercise in rats induces SC activation and increases IL-6 mRNA levels in muscle and that 10 weeks of resistance exercise in rats induces muscle hypertrophy and a persistent increase in IL-6 mRNA levels in muscle [68]. Taken together, these data suggest that IL-6 is involved in the mechanism of muscle hypertrophy via SC activation. Future studies are

required to evaluate whether IL-6 is involved in the mechanism of SC activation by LM and casuarinin *in vivo* as well.

Finally, I showed that oral administration of casuarinin (4 and 8 mg/kg) to normal rats activated SCs as well as LM. Similar to the in vitro data, the effective dose of casuarinin was consistent with the casuarinin content in the effective dose of LM. These results indicate that casuarinin is the active compound in LM in vivo. To my knowledge, there are few functional food ingredients that activate SCs in the muscle of normal mice or rats. Oral administration of β -hydroxy- β -methylbutyrate (340 mg/kg) [69] or epigallocatechin-3-gallate (50 mg/kg) [70] to rats activated SCs in the muscle during recovery from atrophy but did not activate SCs in normal muscle. In addition, oral administration of proanthocyanidins (20 mg/kg) to rats [71] or intraperitoneal administration of epicatechin gallate (25 mg/kg) to mice [72] activated SCs in injured muscle, whereas intraperitoneal administration of resveratrol (20 mg/kg) or curcumin (1 mg/kg) to mice induced activation and proliferation of SCs in the atrophied muscle [73]. However, none of these ingredients have been reported to activate SCs in normal muscle. Although intraperitoneal administration of ursolic acid (200 mg/kg) to mice induced SC proliferation in normal muscle [74], it is unclear whether oral administration also activates SCs. Contrary to these studies, oral administration of LM or casuarinin to rats activated SCs in normal muscle. These results suggest that supplementation with LM or casuarinin in healthy

adults may reduce the risk of developing sarcopenia. In addition to the effects on normal muscle, supplementation with LM or casuarinin may improve sarcopenia and disuse atrophy by activating SCs in atrophied muscle and promote muscle regeneration by activating SCs in injured muscle. However, the fate of SCs activated by LM or casuarinin supplementation is unknown; that is, whether these activated SCs further proliferate and differentiate to become new myonuclei or proliferate but return to a quiescent state to maintain the SC pool. Future studies are required to assess the effects of LM or casuarinin supplementation on skeletal muscle hypertrophy as well as SC activation. In addition, exercise induces skeletal muscle hypertrophy through both activation of SCs and stimulation of muscle protein synthesis [19]; therefore, it is important to assess whether LM or casuarinin supplementation also stimulates muscle protein synthesis. Even if supplementation with LM or casuarinin do not affect muscle protein synthesis, supplementation with LM or casuarinin in combination with conventional nutrients that induce muscle protein synthesis, such as protein and leucine, may provide a powerful intervention for improving sarcopenia instead of exercise.

General conclusions

Exercise and nutritional interventions have been conducted to improve sarcopenia. Exercise intervention has much evidence [4] but involves a physical burden depending on the intensity of exercise. In contrast, nutritional interventions are simple and safe methods, but the evidence is inconsistent and more high-quality clinical trials are needed [4]. Kaneka Corporation focused on the skeletal muscle satellite cell (SC) activation, a mechanism of exercise-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy, and found an extract of lemon myrtle leaves as a candidate ingredient. The objective of this thesis is to elucidate the functionality of lemon myrtle extract as a novel functional food ingredient for skeletal muscle hypertrophy.

In Chapter 1, I examined the general manufacturing method and functional properties of lemon myrtle extract. I showed that the extraction solvent affects the SC activation properties, and that lemon myrtle water extract (LM) activates SCs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. I also showed that LM specifically activates SCs but not myoblast. In Chapter 2, I attempted to elucidate the mechanism by which LM activates SCs. First, I identified casuarinin, an ellagitannin, as the active compound in LM involved in SC activation. Subsequent structure–activity relationship analysis showed that the overall molecular structure of casuarinin is crucial for SC activation. Furthermore, I showed that SC activation by LM and casuarinin was associated with upregulation of IL-6 expression.

The results of present study provide important evidence for establishing a manufacturing method for LM and a product specification for LM with casuarinin as the quality control target. Based on these results, scale-up production should be examined to determine a stable industrial production method for LM. These results also provide fundamental evidence to elucidate the functionality and mechanism of action of LM. Future animal and clinical studies are required to test whether LM supplementation induces skeletal muscle hypertrophy following SC activation. In clinical trials, it is also important to clarify the conditions that influence the efficacy of LM, such as the dose of LM, the duration of intervention, and the age and lifestyle of the subjects. In addition, clarifying the mechanism of action of LM will help distinguish LM supplementation from current nutritional interventions such as protein intake. If LM supplementation and those interventions have different mechanisms, combining LM supplementation with those interventions may augment their efficacy or expand their effective target populations. Thus, I believe that elucidation of the efficacy of LM supplementation in skeletal muscle hypertrophy and its mechanism of action could lead to the commercialization of LM itself and various foods containing LM, and provide a novel intervention for improving sarcopenia through food ingredients.

The functional analysis used in this study is a general approach in the development of functional food ingredients such as plant extracts. However, in probiotics, which have become popular in recent years, active compounds are usually not identified, and the bacteria themselves are considered functional components. This research approach can be applied to the development of various functional food ingredients such as probiotics as well as plant extracts. Understanding active compounds in functional food ingredients and their structure– activity relationships will help prevent the distribution of substandard and falsified products. Manufacturers have a responsibility to provide consumers with correct product information. I hope to contribute to the extension of healthy life expectancy through the development of various functional food ingredients using this approach.

Acknowledgments

This thesis study has been carried out at the Molecular Biochemistry Laboratory, Unit of Biotechnology, Graduate School of Integrated Sciences for Life, Hiroshima University and at Agri-Bio & Supplement Research Laboratories, Kaneka Corporation.

I am deeply grateful to Professor Seiji Kawamoto (Unit of Biotechnology) for his kind guidance and encouragement throughout this study. I am also very grateful to Professor Masaki Mizunuma (Unit of Biotechnology), Professor Noriyuki Yanaka (Unit of Food and AgriLife Science), and Associate Professor Miyako Nakano (Unit of Biotechnology) for their helpful suggestions and discussions.

I wish to express special thanks to Professor Hidemi Fujino (Kobe University) for his general guidance on skeletal muscle satellite cell (SC) research.

I would like to thank Professor Ryuichi Tatsumi (Kyushu University) for technical guidance on SC isolation and culture, and the late Professor Hidetoshi Yamada (Kwansei Gakuin University) and Assistant Professor Shinnosuke Wakamori (Tokyo University of Agriculture) for providing chemically synthesized casuarinin.

I also thank Ms. Yuko Funabashi (Kaneka Techno Research Corporation) for technical support on LC-MS/MS analysis, Mr. Ryuichi Tanigawa (Kaneka Techno Research Corporation) for technical support on NMR analysis, Ms. Sachie Iida (TechnoPro Inc.) for assistance with casuarinin isolation, and Dr. Mineko Ogura and Mr. Masanori Kato (Kaneka Corporation) for help with animal experiments.

I would like to express my deep appreciation to Dr. Shinichi Honda, Dr. Shinichi Yokota, Mr. Yuji Tominaga, Mr. Naoaki Taoka, and Dr. Masaru Mitsuda (Kaneka Corporation) for their advice and support throughout this study.

References

- "White paper on health, labor and welfare" Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, 2020. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/000735866.pdf, accessed on 22 July 2022.
- "Comprehensive survey of living conditions" Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, 2019. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/k-tyosa/k-tyosa19/dl/06.pdf, accessed on 22 July 2022.
- 3. Marcell, T.J. Sarcopenia: Causes, consequences, and preventions. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 2003, 58, 911–916, doi:10.1093/gerona/58.10.m911.
- Cruz-Jentoft, A.J.; Sayer, A.A. Sarcopenia. *Lancet* 2019, 393, 2636–2646, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31138-9.
- Rolland, Y.; Czerwinski, S.; Van Kan, G.A.; Morley, J.E.; Cesari, M.; Onder, G.; Woo, J.; Baumgartner, R.; Pillard, F.; Boirie, Y.; et al. Sarcopenia: Its assessment, etiology, pathogenesis, consequences and future perspectives. *J. Nutr. Health Aging* 2008, *12*, 433–450, doi:10.1007/BF02982704.
- Cruz-Jentoft, A.J.; Bahat, G.; Bauer, J.; Boirie, Y.; Bruyère, O.; Cederholm, T.; Cooper, C.; Landi, F.; Rolland, Y.; Sayer, A.A.; et al. Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing* 2019, *48*, 16–31, doi:10.1093/ageing/afy169.
- MacDougall, J.D.; Tuxen, D.; Sale, D.G.; Moroz, J.R.; Sutton, J.R. Arterial blood pressure response to heavy resistance exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 1985, 58, 785–790, doi:10.1152/jappl.1985.58.3.785.
- 8. Kompf, J.; Arandjelović, O. Understanding and overcoming the sticking point in resistance exercise. *Sports Med.* **2016**, *46*, 751–762, doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0460-2.
- Martone, A.M.; Marzetti, E.; Calvani, R.; Picca, A.; Tosato, M.; Santoro, L.; Di Giorgio, A.; Nesci, A.; Sisto, A.; Santoliquido, A.; et al. Exercise and protein intake: A synergistic approach against sarcopenia. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2017, 2017, 2672435, doi:10.1155/2017/2672435.

- Uchitomi, R.; Oyabu, M.; Kamei, Y. Vitamin D and sarcopenia: Potential of vitamin D supplementation in sarcopenia prevention and treatment. *Nutrients* 2020, *12*, 3189, doi:10.3390/nu12103189.
- Dupont, J.; Dedeyne, L.; Dalle, S.; Koppo, K.; Gielen, E. The role of omega-3 in the prevention and treatment of sarcopenia. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 2019, *31*, 825–836, doi:10.1007/s40520-019-01146-1.
- Martínez-Arnau, F.M.; Fonfría-Vivas, R.; Cauli, O. Beneficial effects of leucine supplementation on criteria for sarcopenia: A systematic review. *Nutrients* 2019, *11*, 2504, doi:10.3390/nu11102504.
- 13. Machida, S.; Booth, F.W. Insulin-like growth factor 1 and muscle growth: Implication for satellite cell proliferation. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* **2004**, *63*, 337–340, doi:10.1079/pns2004354.
- Mauro, A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 1961, 9, 493–495, doi:10.1083/jcb.9.2.493.
- Zammit, P.S.; Partridge, T.A.; Yablonka-Reuveni, Z. The skeletal muscle satellite cell: The stem cell that came in from the cold. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 2006, *54*, 1177–1191, doi:10.1369/jhc.6R6995.2006.
- Almeida, C.F.; Fernandes, S.A.; Ribeiro Junior, A.F.; Keith Okamoto, O.; Vainzof, M. Muscle satellite cells: Exploring the basic biology to rule them. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016, 2016, 1078686, doi:10.1155/2016/1078686.
- Muñoz-Cánoves, P.; Neves, J.; Sousa-Victor, P. Understanding muscle regenerative decline with aging: New approaches to bring back youthfulness to aged stem cells. *FEBS J.* 2020, 287, 406–416, doi:10.1111/febs.15182.
- Verdijk, L.B.; Snijders, T.; Drost, M.; Delhaas, T.; Kadi, F.; Van Loon, L.J.C. Satellite cells in human skeletal muscle; from birth to old age. *Age* 2014, *36*, 545–557, doi:10.1007/s11357-013-9583-2.
- Bamman, M.M.; Roberts, B.M.; Adams, G.R. Molecular regulation of exercise-induced muscle fiber hypertrophy. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2018, *8*, a029751, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a029751.

- 20. Shamim, B.; Hawley, J.A.; Camera, D.M. Protein availability and satellite cell dynamics in skeletal muscle. *Sports Med.* **2018**, *48*, 1329–1343, doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0883-7.
- Dupont, S.; Caffin, N.; Bhandari, B.; Dykes, G.A. In vitro antibacterial activity of Australian native herb extracts against food-related bacteria. *Food Control* 2006, *17*, 929–932, doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2005.06.005.
- Alderees, F.; Mereddy, R.; Webber, D.; Nirmal, N.; Sultanbawa, Y. Mechanism of action against food spoilage yeasts and bioactivity of *Tasmannia lanceolata*, *Backhousia citriodora* and *Syzygium anisatum* plant solvent extracts. *Foods* 2018, 7, 179, doi:10.3390/foods7110179.
- 23. Guo, Y.; Sakulnarmrat, K.; Konczak, I. Anti-inflammatory potential of native Australian herbs polyphenols. *Toxicol. Rep.* **2014**, *1*, 385–390, doi:10.1016/j.toxrep.2014.06.011.
- Shim, S.Y.; Kim, J.H.; Kho, K.H.; Lee, M. Anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative activities of lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) leaf extract. *Toxicol. Rep.* 2020, 7, 277–281, doi:10.1016/j.toxrep.2020.01.018.
- Kang, E.J.; Lee, J.K.; Park, H.R.; Kim, H.; Kim, H.S.; Park, J. Antioxidant and antiinflammatory activities of phenolic compounds extracted from lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) leaves at various extraction conditions. *Food Sci. Biotechnol.* 2020, 29, 1425–1432, doi:10.1007/s10068-020-00795-7.
- Chan, E.W.C.; Lim, Y.Y.; Chong, K.L.; Tan, J.B.L.; Wong, S.K. Antioxidant properties of tropical and temperate herbal teas. *J. Food Compos. Anal.* 2010, 23, 185–189, doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2009.10.002.
- Konczak, I.; Zabaras, D.; Dunstan, M.; Aguas, P. Antioxidant capacity and phenolic compounds in commercially grown native Australian herbs and spices. *Food Chem.* 2010, *122*, 260–266, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.03.004.
- Yamamoto, A.; Honda, S.; Ogura, M.; Kato, M.; Tanigawa, R.; Fujino, H.; Kawamoto, S. Lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) extract and its active compound, casuarinin, activate skeletal muscle satellite cells in vitro and in vivo. *Nutrients* 2022, *14*, 1078, doi:10.3390/nu14051078.

- 29. Dai, J.; Mumper, R.J. Plant phenolics: Extraction, analysis and their antioxidant and anticancer properties. *Molecules* **2010**, *15*, 7313–7352, doi:10.3390/molecules15107313.
- Sultana, B.; Anwar, F.; Ashraf, M. Effect of extraction solvent/technique on the antioxidant activity of selected medicinal plant extracts. *Molecules* 2009, *14*, 2167–2180, doi:10.3390/molecules14062167.
- Do, Q.D.; Angkawijaya, A.E.; Tran-Nguyen, P.L.; Huynh, L.H.; Soetaredjo, F.E.; Ismadji, S.; Ju, Y.H. Effect of extraction solvent on total phenol content, total flavonoid content, and antioxidant activity of *Limnophila Aromatica*. J. Food Drug Anal. 2014, 22, 296–302, doi:10.1016/j.jfda.2013.11.001.
- Hayes, A.J.; Markovic, B. Toxicity of Australian essential oil *Backhousia citriodora* (lemon myrtle). Part 1. Antimicrobial activity and in vitro cytotoxicity. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 2002, 40, 535–543, doi:10.1016/S0278-6915(01)00103-X.
- 33. "Ingredients that are not deemed to be pharmaceuticals unless they are labelled with pharmaceutical effects" The Japan Food Chemical Research Foundation, 2019. https://www.ffcr.or.jp/mhlw/hani/post-53.html, accessed on 20 June 2022.
- 34. "List of substances which are generally provided for eating or drinking as foods and which are used as food additives" The Japan Food Chemical Research Foundation, 2011. https://www.ffcr.or.jp/tenka/list/post-14.html, accessed on 20 June 2022.
- 35. "Standards for use of food additives" The Japan Food Chemical Research Foundation, 2021. https://www.ffcr.or.jp/tenka/list/post-17.html, accessed on 20 June 2022.
- 36. Allen, R.E.; Temm-Grove, C.J.; Sheehan, S.M.; Rice, G. Skeletal muscle satellite cell cultures. *Methods Cell Biol.* **1997**, *52*, 155–176, doi:10.1016/s0091-679x(08)60378-7.
- Suzuki, T.; Takaishi, H.; Sakata, T.; Do, M.K.Q.; Hara, M.; Sato, A.; Mizunoya, W.; Nishimura, T.; Hattori, A.; Ikeuchi, Y.; et al. In vitro measurement of post-natal changes in proliferating satellite cell frequency during rat muscle growth. *Anim. Sci. J.* 2010, *81*, 245–251, doi:10.1111/j.1740-0929.2009.00734.x.
- Suzuki, T.; Mori, A.; Maeno, T.; Arimatsu, R.; Ichimura, E.; Nishi, Y.; Hisaeda, K.;
 Yamaya, Y.; Kobayashi, K.; Nakamura, M.; et al. Abundant synthesis of netrin-1 in
satellite cell-derived myoblasts isolated from EDL rather than soleus muscle regulates fast-type myotube formation. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, *22*, 4499, doi:10.3390/ijms22094499.

- Anderson, J.E. Hepatocyte growth factor and satellite cell activation. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 2016, *900*, 1–25, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27511-6_1.
- Tatsumi, R.; Anderson, J.E.; Nevoret, C.J.; Halevy, O.; Allen, R.E. HGF/SF is present in normal adult skeletal muscle and is capable of activating satellite cells. *Dev. Biol.* 1998, 194, 114–128, doi:10.1006/dbio.1997.8803.
- Kim, T.J.; Weng, W.L.; Stojanovic, J.; Lu, Y.; Jung, Y.S.; Silva, J.L. Antimicrobial effect of water-soluble muscadine seed extracts on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J. Food Prot.* 2008, *71*, 1465–1468, doi:10.4315/0362-028X-71.7.1465.
- Maeda, K.; Akagi, J. Decreased tongue pressure is associated with sarcopenia and sarcopenic dysphagia in the elderly. *Dysphagia* 2015, *30*, 80–87, doi:10.1007/s00455-014-9577-y.
- Machida, N.; Tohara, H.; Hara, K.; Kumakura, A.; Wakasugi, Y.; Nakane, A.; Minakuchi, S. Effects of aging and sarcopenia on tongue pressure and jaw-opening force. *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 2017, *17*, 295–301, doi:10.1111/ggi.12715.
- Sakulnarmrat, K.; Fenech, M.; Thomas, P.; Konczak, I. Cytoprotective and pro-apoptotic activities of native Australian herbs polyphenolic-rich extracts. *Food Chem.* 2013, *136*, 9–17, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.07.089.
- 45. Wakamori, S.; Matsumoto, S.; Kusuki, R.; Ikeuchi, K.; Yamada, H. Total synthesis of casuarinin. *Org. Lett.* **2020**, *22*, 3392–3396, doi:10.1021/acs.orglett.0c00876.
- Park, B.J.; Matsuta, T.; Kanazawa, T.; Chang, K.J.; Park, C.H.; Onjo, M. Phenolic compounds from the leaves of *Psidium guajava*. I. Hydrolysable tannins and benzophenone glycosides. *Chem. Nat. Compd.* 2011, 47, 632–635, doi:10.1007/s10600-011-0015-1.
- 47. Pedersen, B.K.; Febbraio, M.A. Muscle as an endocrine organ: Focus on muscle-derived interleukin-6. *Physiol. Rev.* **2008**, *88*, 1379–1406, doi:10.1152/physrev.90100.2007.

- 48. Forcina, L.; Miano, C.; Musarò, A. The physiopathologic interplay between stem cells and tissue niche in muscle regeneration and the role of IL-6 on muscle homeostasis and diseases. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* **2018**, *41*, 1–9, doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2018.05.001.
- Cantini, M.; Massimino, M.L.; Rapizzi, E.; Rossini, K.; Catani, C.; Dallalibera, L.; Carraro, U. Human satellite cell-proliferation in vitro is regulated by autocrine secretion of IL-6 stimulated by a soluble factor(s) released by activated monocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 1995, *216*, 49–53, doi:10.1006/bbrc.1995.2590.
- Serrano, A.L.; Baeza-Raja, B.; Perdiguero, E.; Jardí, M.; Muñoz-Cánoves, P. Interleukin-6 is an essential regulator of satellite cell-mediated skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Cell Metab.* 2008, 7, 33–44, doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2007.11.011.
- Kurosaka, M.; Machida, S. Interleukin-6-induced satellite cell proliferation is regulated by induction of the JAK2/STAT3 signalling pathway through cyclin D1 targeting. *Cell Prolif.* 2013, 46, 365–373, doi:10.1111/cpr.12045.
- Nirmal, N.P.; Webber, D.; Mereddy, R.; Sultanbawa, Y. Biochemical and functional properties of indigenous Australian herbal infusions. *Food Biosci.* 2018, 26, 133–138, doi:10.1016/j.fbio.2018.10.011.
- Khandanlou, R.; Murthy, V.; Wang, H. Gold nanoparticle-assisted enhancement in bioactive properties of Australian native plant extracts, *Tasmannia lanceolata* and *Backhousia citriodora. Mater. Sci. Eng. C* 2020, *112*, 110922, doi:10.1016/j.msec.2020.110922.
- Rupesinghe, E.J.R.; Jones, A.; Shalliker, R.A.; Pravadali-Cekic, S. A rapid screening analysis of antioxidant compounds in native Australian food plants using multiplexed detection with active flow technology columns. *Molecules* 2016, *21*, 118, doi:10.3390/molecules21010118.
- 55. Kuo, P.L.; Hsu, Y.L.; Lin, T.C.; Lin, L.T.; Chang, J.K.; Lin, C.C. Casuarinin from the bark of *Terminalia arjuna* induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in human breast adenocarcinoma MCF-7 cells. *Planta Medica* 2005, *71*, 237–243, doi:10.1055/s-2005-837823.
- 56. Kuo, P.L.; Hsu, Y.L.; Lin, T.C.; Chang, J.K.; Lin, C.C. Induction of cell cycle arrest and

apoptosis in human non-small cell lung cancer A549 cells by casuarinin from the bark of *Terminalia arjuna* Linn. *Anticancer Drugs* **2005**, *16*, 409–415, doi:10.1097/00001813-200504000-00007.

- You, B.R.; Park, W.H. Gallic acid-induced lung cancer cell death is related to glutathione depletion as well as reactive oxygen species increase. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 2010, *24*, 1356– 1362, doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2010.04.009.
- Zhao, B.; Hu, M. Gallic acid reduces cell viability, proliferation, invasion and angiogenesis in human cervical cancer cells. *Oncol. Lett.* 2013, *6*, 1749–1755, doi:10.3892/ol.2013.1632.
- Liao, C.C.; Chen, S.C.; Huang, H.P.; Wang, C.J. Gallic acid inhibits bladder cancer cell proliferation and migration via regulating fatty acid synthase (FAS). *J. Food Drug Anal.* 2018, *26*, 620–627, doi:10.1016/j.jfda.2017.06.006.
- Xu, R.; Zhang, Y.; Ye, X.; Xue, S.; Shi, J.; Pan, J.; Chen, Q. Inhibition effects and induction of apoptosis of flavonoids on the prostate cancer cell line PC-3 in vitro. *Food Chem.* 2013, *138*, 48–53, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.09.102.
- Li, F.R.; Yu, F.X.; Yao, S.T.; Si, Y.H.; Zhang, W.; Gao, L.L. Hyperin extracted from Manchurian rhododendron leaf induces apoptosis in human endometrial cancer cells through a mitochondrial pathway. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 2012, *13*, 3653–3656, doi:10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.8.3653.
- Cincin, Z.B.; Unlu, M.; Kiran, B.; Bireller, E.S.; Baran, Y.; Cakmakoglu, B. Apoptotic effects of quercitrin on DLD-1 colon cancer cell line. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 2015, *21*, 333–338, doi:10.1007/s12253-014-9825-3.
- 63. Plaza, M.; Batista, Â.G.; Cazarin, C.B.B.; Sandahl, M.; Turner, C.; Östman, E.; Maróstica, M.R., Jr. Characterization of antioxidant polyphenols from *Myrciaria jaboticaba* peel and their effects on glucose metabolism and antioxidant status: A pilot clinical study. *Food Chem.* 2016, *211*, 185–197, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.04.142.
- Kaneshima, T.; Myoda, T.; Nakata, M.; Fujimori, T.; Toeda, K.; Nishizawa, M. Antioxidant activity of C-Glycosidic ellagitannins from the seeds and peel of camu-camu (*Myrciaria dubia*). *LWT Food Sci. Technol.* 2016, *69*, 76–81,

doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2016.01.024.

- Zhang, C.; Li, Y.; Wu, Y.; Wang, L.; Wang, X.; Du, J. Interleukin-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway is essential for macrophage infiltration and myoblast proliferation during muscle regeneration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2013, 288, 1489–1499, doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.419788.
- Weigert, C.; Düfer, M.; Simon, P.; Debre, E.; Runge, H.; Brodbeck, K.; Häring, H.U.; Schleicher, E.D. Upregulation of IL-6 mRNA by IL-6 in skeletal muscle cells: Role of IL-6 mRNA stabilization and Ca²⁺-dependent mechanisms. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 2007, 293, 1139–1147, doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00142.2007.
- McKay, B.R.; De Lisio, M.; Johnston, A.P.W.; O'Reilly, C.E.; Phillips, S.M.; Tarnopolsky, M.A.; Parise, G. Association of interleukin-6 signalling with the muscle stem cell response following muscle-lengthening contractions in humans. *PLoS ONE* 2009, *4*, e6027, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006027.
- Begue, G.; Douillard, A.; Galbes, O.; Rossano, B.; Vernus, B.; Candau, R.; Py, G. Early activation of rat skeletal muscle IL-6/STAT1/STAT3 dependent gene expression in resistance exercise linked to hypertrophy. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e57141, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057141.
- Alway, S.E.; Pereira, S.L.; Edens, N.K.; Hao, Y.; Bennett, B.T. β-hydroxy-βmethylbutyrate (HMB) enhances the proliferation of satellite cells in fast muscles of aged rats during recovery from disuse atrophy. *Exp. Gerontol.* 2013, *48*, 973–984, doi:10.1016/j.exger.2013.06.005.
- Alway, S.E.; Bennett, B.T.; Wilson, J.C.; Edens, N.K.; Pereira, S.L. Epigallocatechin-3gallate improves plantaris muscle recovery after disuse in aged rats. *Exp. Gerontol.* 2014, 50, 82–94, doi:10.1016/j.exger.2013.11.011.
- Myburgh, K.H.; Kruger, M.J.; Smith, C. Accelerated skeletal muscle recovery after in vivo polyphenol administration. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 2012, 23, 1072–1079, doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.05.014.
- Kim, A.R.; Kim, K.M.; Byun, M.R.; Hwang, J.H.; Park, J.I.; Oh, H.T.; Kim, H.K.; Jeong, M.G.; Hwang, E.S.; Hong, J.H. Catechins activate muscle stem cells by Myf5 induction

and stimulate muscle regeneration. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2017**, *489*, 142–148, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.05.114.

- 73. Mañas-García, L.; Guitart, M.; Duran, X.; Barreiro, E. Satellite cells and markers of muscle regeneration during unloading and reloading: Effects of treatment with resveratrol and curcumin. *Nutrients* 2020, *12*, 1870, doi:10.3390/nu12061870.
- 74. Bakhtiari, N.; Hosseinkhani, S.; Soleimani, M.; Hemmati, R.; Noori-Zadeh, A.; Javan, M.; Tashakor, A. Short-term ursolic acid promotes skeletal muscle rejuvenation through enhancing of SIRT1 expression and satellite cells proliferation. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2016, *78*, 185–196, doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2016.01.010.



Lemon myrtle (*Backhousia citriodora*) extract and its active compound, casuarinin, activate skeletal muscle satellite cells in vitro and in vivo

<u>Ayumi Yamamoto</u>, Shinichi Honda, Mineko Ogura, Masanori Kato, Ryuichi Tanigawa, Hidemi Fujino, and Seiji Kawamoto Nutrients, 14(5), 1078 (2022).